# **AGREEMENT**

# Between

# ELDER SERVICES OF BERKSHIRE COUNTY

and

LOCAL 509, SEIU

November 1, 2022 – October 31, 2025

# Table of Contents

PREAMBLE	3
PURPOSE	3
ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE 2 – UNION SECURITY	3
ARTICLE 3 – UNION BUSINESS	4
ARTICLE 4 – NON-DISCRIMINATION	6
ARTICLE 5 – WORK WEEK, WORK SCHEDULE AND OVERTIME	6
ARTICLE 6 – BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 7 – EMPLOYEE EXPENSES	8
ARTICLE 8 – SALARIES	
ARTICLE 9 – EMPLOYEE LIABILITY	9
ARTICLE 10 – HOLIDAYS	9
ARTICLE 11 – VACATION	10
ARTICLE 12 – SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 13 – PARENTAL LEAVE	
ARTICLE 14 – OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE	13
ARTICLE 15 – JOB OPENINGS / REASSIGNMENT	
ARTICLE 16 – WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION	
ARTICLE 17 – SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 18 – LAY-OFF	
ARTICLE 19A – GRIEVANCE	17
ARTICLE 19B – ARBITRATION	18
ARTICLE 20 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD	
	20
	20
ARTICLE 23 – HEALTH, SAFETY, WORKING CONDITIONS	
ARTICLE 24 – JOB DESCRIPTION	
ARTICLE 25 – WORKLOADS	
ARTICLE 26 – CASE MANAGER MEETINGS	
ARTICLE 27 – LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 28 – SEPARABILITY	
ARTICLE 29 – VOIDABLE WAIVER	
ARTICLE 30 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 31 – NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT	
ARTICLE 32 – EXPRESSED WAIVER	
ARTICLE 33 – STATEMENT IN PRINCIPAL	24
ARTICLE 34 – DURATION AND RENEWAL	24

# **PREAMBLE**

This collective bargaining Agreement is made and entered into as of the 28<sup>th</sup> of September, 2022, by and between Elder Services of Berkshire County, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer" or Agency"), and Local 509, Service Employees International Union, CLC (hereinafter referred to as the "Union.")

# **PURPOSE**

Elder Services of Berkshire County, Inc. is a private, non-profit corporation founded to provide services which promote and maintain the independence and dignity of elders and persons with disabilities within Berkshire County. As the federally-designated Area Agency on Aging and state designated Aging Services Access Point, we are committed to the cost-effective use of federal and state funds in creating, brokering and providing a wide variety of services to meet the needs of elders in Berkshire County.

The purpose and intent of this Agreement is to assure proper mutual respect and dignity to all parties; to promote and further harmonious labor-management relations, quality client care, efficiency and responsibility, prompt and equitable disposition of grievances; to maintain communication and cooperation between all employees and management; to prevent strikes and lockouts; and to promote the welfare of the Agency and its clients.

# **ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION**

# Section 1.

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining unit for all full-time and regular part-time Client Service Coordinators and Residential Service Coordinators employed by the Employer at its Pittsfield, Massachusetts location; but excluding all other employees.

#### Section 2.

- a.) Unless otherwise indicated by the context, the term "employee" shall refer to any employee who is covered by this Agreement.
- b.) The term "full time employee" shall refer to any employee who is normally scheduled to work thirty (30) or more hours per week.
- c.) The term "part-time employee" shall refer to any employee who is normally scheduled to work less than thirty (30) hours per week.
- d.) Employees who normally are scheduled to work less than thirty-seven and one half (37 ½) hours per week shall have their benefits, other than insurance, pro-rated based on their normal schedule.

# ARTICLE 2 – UNION SECURITY

# Section 1.

Each present employee covered by this Agreement shall within thirty (30) days of the signing of this Agreement, acquire and maintain membership in the Union in good standing.

#### Section 2.

Each new employee covered by this Agreement shall, within thirty (30) calendar days after the date of hire, acquire and maintain membership in the Union in good standing.

### Section 3.

The Employer will deduct from the wages due the members of the bargaining unit and Union, dues of those employees who individually and voluntarily authorize the Employer to make such deductions by signing the proper forms, in conformity with the provisions of the Taft-Hartley Act and amendments thereto. Such deductions shall be made from the regular paycheck due to each employee. The amount of weekly Union dues to be deducted shall be certified in writing by an official of the Union.

The Employer shall remit to the Union, within fifteen (15) days after the end of each month, the amounts deducted for dues, together with the names of the persons from whom such deductions were made and the amount of such deduction.

The Union agrees to, and does hereby indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Agency from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, suits or any other form of action arising from or relating to any action taken by the Agency in reliance upon information furnished by the Union to the Agency for the purpose of complying with any of the provisions of this Article.

# Section 4.

The Employer agrees to advise all new employees in the bargaining unit, at the time of hire, that the Union is their collective bargaining representative. The Union Stewards will introduce themselves to new employees.

The Employer will also notify the Union of changes in personnel within the bargaining unit, including the names, addresses, classifications, experience/education rating, starting dates, and computation of rates of pay for each new employee in the bargaining unit, as well as for those employees in the bargaining unit who have terminated.

#### Section 5.

An employee who is a member of and adheres to established and traditional tenets or teachings of a bona fide religious body or sect, which has historically held conscientious objections to joining or financially supporting labor organizations, shall not be required to join or financially support the Union; provided, however, that such employee shall, in lieu of the payment of periodic dues to the Union, pay sums equal to such dues to any non-religious charitable fund, which is exempt from taxation under Section 501 (c) (3) of Title 26 of the Internal Revenue Code.

# **ARTICLE 3 – UNION BUSINESS**

# Section 1.

The grievant (or in the case of a class grievance, a representative of the class) shall be allowed a reasonable amount of time off during normal business hours to speak with his/her supervisor, and to fill out a grievance form in accordance with Step 1 of the grievance procedure.

The grievant (or class representative) shall also be allowed a reasonable amount of time during normal business hours to fill out and submit the grievance form to her/his supervisor, who will forward it to the Program Director, in accordance with Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

In addition, the grievant (or class representative) and one (1) Union Steward shall be allowed up to one (1) hour of actual meeting time pursuant to Step 3 of the grievance procedure. In the event that travel is required from a branch office to the main office for a Step 3 meeting, the grievant (or class representative) and one (1) Union Steward shall be allowed actual travel time, not to exceed one (1) hour each way.

The grievant (or class representative) and/or the Steward shall be paid for such time, provided that they were scheduled to work during that time, and provided that they actually worked for the remainder of their scheduled shifts before and after said time.

The Union shall provide the Employer with a written list of Stewards and officials as soon as appointed.

# Section 2.

Time off, without pay but without loss of benefits, shall be granted to Union officers, Stewards and elected delegates of the Union to attend monthly Local meetings, monthly Executive Board meetings and yearly conventions of the local, state, regional and parent organizations.

# Section 3.

Employees may use accrued vacation or personal time for attendance at collective bargaining sessions.

# Section 4.

The Employer shall provide a bulletin board within each office at locations to be designated by the Agency, for the purpose of posting official Union notices only. No material shall be posted which is inflammatory, profane or defamatory of Elder Services of Berkshire County, Inc. or its representatives, or which constitutes election campaign material for or against any person, organization or faction thereof. All materials posted will relate to Union affairs.

# Section 5.

Upon request of the Union, an employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay to perform full-time official duties on behalf of the Union, for a designated period of time, with approval of the Executive Director.

#### Section 6.

The Union, with permission from the Employer, may have reasonable use of the Employer's premises for the transaction of Union business.

#### Section 7.

A representative of the Union, with permission of the Executive Director or designee, shall be admitted to the Agency's premises during working hours for the purpose of participating in the adjustment of a pending grievance; provided that such visits are not abused and do not interfere with employees while at work.

# **ARTICLE 4 - NON-DISCRIMINATION**

# Section 1.

The union and the Employer agree to prohibit discrimination and harassment of any type and to afford equal employment opportunities to employees without regard to race, ethnicity, religion, gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, national origin, citizenship, age, physical or mental disability, genetic information, parental or marital status, political or philosophical belief, veteran status or any other group protected by federal, state, or local law or lawful Union activity.

# Section 2.

The Employer and the Union agree that no person shall be subjected to sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is considered a form of sex discrimination. Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other deliberate or repeated unsolicited verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitutes sexual harassment when: 1.) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment; 2.) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or 3.) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance, or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.

All bargaining unit employees must report any conduct which they consider sexual harassment to the Employer as soon as possible.

# Section 3.

All employees are to be treated with dignity and respect.

# ARTICLE 5 – WORK WEEK, WORK SCHEDULE AND OVERTIME

# Section 1.

Except as otherwise specified in the Agreement, the regular hours of work for full-time bargaining unit employees shall be Monday through Friday, thirty-seven and one-half (37 ½) hours per week, including two (2) paid ten (10) minute breaks per day. Breaks shall be split between morning and afternoon and will not regularly be taken in conjunction with lunch, at the beginning or end of the work day. Any exceptions to be authorized by the supervisor in advance.

# Section 2.

The Employer and the Union recognize that flexible work schedules are an acceptable means of addressing the concerns of all employees within the bargaining unit. Any employee who wishes to adopt a flexible program shall request same with the supervisor. Flex time must occur within the normal workday of the Agency. Currently those hours are between 8:00 A.M. and 5:00 P.M. The Flex time schedule must be an approved and set schedule and may include working two fixed days per week from home. Staff must follow current remote work policy procedures. An employee on a flex schedule may return to a standard schedule within a two (2) week prior notice to his/her immediate supervisor in writing.

# Section 3.

Hours worked between 37.5 hours and 40 hours are to be scheduled at Agency discretion based on operational needs as determined by the Agency. For hours worked between 37.5 and up to 40, the Agency will compensate employees at their standard rate.

# Section 4.

- a.) A one-half (½) hour unpaid meal period shall be scheduled during each workday, but not at the beginning or end of any workday.
- b.) Employees attending seminars, educational training or other programs outside of Berkshire County, sanctioned or required by the Employer, shall receive a meal allowance up to eight dollars for breakfast and lunch and up to \$20 for dinner, with a receipt submitted for reimbursement.

# Section 5. - On Call

Any employee who is hired as an on-call worker, while off from normal work hours, for any duties required by the Employer, shall be compensated at the rate of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) per week. In any week in which a holiday falls, an additional compensation of two dollars (\$2.00) an hour for eight (8) hours shall be made. The Employer may offer on-call duty to bargaining unit members, including North County bargaining unit members, and non-bargaining unit employees.

If a bargaining unit employee is called back to work, that employee shall receive one and one-half (1 ½) times her/his regular hourly wage from the time s/he is called off on-call. The employee can be called back to work at the workplace or to the field, and be compensated for direct portal to portal time between locations, with the on-call supervisor's or the back-up supervisor's approval.

# **ARTICLE 6 – BENEFITS**

# Section 1.

The Agency shall maintain its present contribution rate for health insurance. In the event the Executive Office of Elder Affairs provides an increase in the amount of fringe monies available, the Agency's contribution rate to health insurance will be increased proportionately.

The Agency may shop for and modify or change health insurance coverage during contract terms based on costs and what, in the best interests of the Agency, proves to be a cost effective and beneficial group health insurance plan for the Agency and its employees as a whole. The union will be provided with a notice and opportunity for input prior to any change.

# Section 2.

The Agency shall maintain its present contribution rate for dental insurance. In the event the Executive Office of Elder Affairs (E.O.E.A) provides an increase in the amount of fringe monies available, the Agency's contribution rate to dental insurance will be increased proportionately.

#### Section 3.

The Employer shall provide a short-term disability insurance for its employees, at no cost to the employees.

# Section 4.

The Employer shall provide a life insurance policy, with a value of one and one-half (1 ½) the employee's annual salary, at no cost to the employee beyond standard IRS regulations.

# Section 5.

The Employer shall maintain its present contribution rate for the Pension Plan. The Union will be notified in advance of any contribution in the profit sharing plan. All of the Employer's obligations under the Plan, and these assumed herein, shall continue only so long as there is in existence an effective collective bargaining Agreement between the Employer and the Union.

# **ARTICLE 7 – EMPLOYEE EXPENSES**

# Section 1.

Employees who use their own cars on Agency business shall be reimbursed at the allowable Internal Revenue Service rate, retroactive to the date of the change by the I.R.S., plus the cost of parking and tolls, with the exception of those expenses related to commuting to and from work.

# Section 2.

Employees who use public transportation on Agency business shall be reimbursed the actual cost of such transportation, with the exception of those expenses related to commuting to and from work.

# Section 3.

The Employer, given itemized telephone bills indicating work related charges, will pay for approved work related telephone calls whether from home or by cell phone.

#### Section 4

All expenses shall be paid monthly, with the submission of proper documentation as required by the Agency.

#### ARTICLE 8 – SALARIES

#### Section 1.

Employees shall receive a paycheck, minus deductions, every other Friday. Sick Time data will be included on pay stubs.

#### Section 2.

The parties recognize the influence of the Executive Office of Elder Affairs (E.O.E.A.) of the Commonwealth over availability of salary funds.

#### Section 3.

In any case where E.O.E.A. or Elder Services of Berkshire County, Inc. provide funds for salary improvement, incentive raises, bonuses, or any other economic improvements, during the contract term, such as Quality of Care fund, for bargaining unit employees, the Union will be afforded the opportunity to bargain over such improvements.

# Section 4. – Educational Incentive Adjustment:

In order to support staff who have obtained, or do obtain Social Work Licensure (LSW, LSWA, LCSW, or LICSW), Elder Services of Berkshire County, Inc. will make a one time salary adjustment of \$1,500 to the base salary of all active bargaining unit staff who provide acceptable documentation of such licensure to the Human Resources Manager.

In addition, upon providing acceptable verification to the Agency, staff who can speak another language related to their work shall receive a one-time salary adjustment of \$1,000 to their base salary and staff who obtain a Masters' degree related to their work for the Agency shall receive a one-time salary adjustment of \$2,000 to the base salary.

### Section 5.

Year one, Effective November 1, 2022, a three (3%) percent increase to the base rate of all bargaining unit employees.

• \$3,000 Signing bonus to all bargaining unit employees upon ratification

Year two and three: Minimum of 2% increase to base of all bargaining unit salaries for bargaining unit staff on the payroll at the date of ratification, inclusive of salary reserve.

# Section 6.

A proposed starting rate of \$39,000 for CSC wherein Management reserves the right to adjust this starting rate higher or lower based upon credentials presented by applicants. This is to include an immediate adjustment up to \$39,000 for only those CSCs below this rate currently.

# **ARTICLE 9 – EMPLOYEE LIABILITY**

The Employer shall provide a professional liability insurance policy to all of its employees in the amount of \$1,000,000.00 per professional incident, subject to the availability of insurance and the limits of the policy.

# **ARTICLE 10 – HOLIDAYS**

# Section 1.

The holidays recognized by this Agreement for bargaining unit employees shall be as follows:

New Year's Day Independence Day

Martin Luther King Day
Presidents' Day
Columbus Day
Patriots' Day
Weterans' Day
Memorial Day
Thanksgiving Day
Juneteenth
Christmas Day

Floating Holiday\*

# Section 2.

An employee shall be paid her/his straight time hourly rate for each of the above holidays, even though s/he performs no work on that holiday; provided s/he has worked the scheduled work day preceding and following the holiday, unless s/he has been excused for bona fide illness on either

<sup>\*</sup>To use the floating holiday, employees must receive their supervisor's approval in advance.

or both of those days.

Part-time employees' time shall be pro-rated. Employees receive holiday pay based on the number of scheduled hours of work on the observed day of the holiday.

# Section 3.

Holiday pay shall not be paid to an employee on any leave of absence, including maternity, sickness (unless excused by the supervisor for approved paid sick time or paid vacation time), lay-off, personal or Union business leaves, for any holiday falling within the period of the leave of absence.

An employee shall not receive pay twice for the same day.

# Section 4.

If a holiday falls during an eligible employee's vacation period, s/he shall receive an additional day of vacation leave, provided that s/he works the last day prior to the beginning of her/his vacation and the first day after her/his vacation period ends, unless s/he has been excused for a bona fide illness on either or both of these days.

# **ARTICLE 11 – VACATION**

# Section 1.

Employees in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement, and who are on the Employer's payroll for six (6) months, and who have continuous length of service as stated below, shall receive vacations and vacation pay in accordance with the following schedule:

Length of Service	Vacation Days and Pay
More than six (6) months	Fifteen (15) days per year/ 4.33 hours per pay period but less than three (3) years
Three (3) years to eight (8) years	Twenty (20) days per year/5.77 hours per pay period
Eight (8) years to fifteen (15) years	Twenty-five (25) days per year/7.21 hours per pay period
More than fifteen (15) years	Thirty (30) days per year/8.65 hours per pay period

An employee is eligible to take accumulated vacation time after the first six (6) months of employment, and upon successful completion of the probationary period, pro-rated for the number of hours worked. The Employer may, in its sole discretion, permit an employee to use accumulated vacation time after the first six (6) months of employment and prior to the successful completion of the probationary period.

#### Section 2.

Vacation may be accumulated up to a maximum of thirty (30) days.

# Section 3.

If two (2) or more employees in the same supervisory unit request the same vacation period, vacation shall be granted by seniority if a conflict arises. The Agency will allow three (3) bargaining unit employees in a supervisory unit consisting of seven (7) or more employees (or two (2) bargaining unit employees in a supervisory unit consisting of six (6) employees) to be on vacation in any given week, subject to the staffing and operational needs of the Agency.

A supervisor may allow an additional employee vacation time if it meets with the staffing and operational needs of the Agency after checking with the other supervisory personnel.

Employees are eligible to use accrued vacation time with prior supervisory approval. Vacation, with supervisory approval, may be used in one-quarter hour increments. Out-of-the-ordinary vacation requests such as unpaid vacation time or vacations lasting longer than two consecutive weeks, require approval of the Executive Director or designee.

To request vacation time, employees should log into the electronic time sheet system at least two weeks before the requested time off whenever possible. Requests will be approved based on a number of <u>factors</u>, including but <u>not limited</u> to, Agency <u>and departmental operating</u> and staffing requirements.

# Section 4.

Upon the death of an employee who is eligible for vacation under this Agreement, payment shall be made to her/his estate in an amount equal to the vacation leave accrued but not used by the employee up to the time of her/his separation from the payroll.

#### Section 5.

Vacation pay shall be computed as follows: vacation pay shall be paid at straight time rates, for the time worked during the vacation year. Regular part-time employees will be eligible for vacation benefits pro-rated for the number of hours worked.

# Section 6.

Scheduling of vacation shall be subject to the staffing and operational needs of the Employer, and must be approved by the Executive Director or the appropriate supervisor.

# ARTICLE 12 – SICK LEAVE

#### Section 1.

Full-time employees shall accumulate sick leave at the rate of one (1) day for each full month of employment. Part-time employees shall accumulate sick leave pro-rated for the number of hours worked. Any abuse of this sick leave provision shall subject her/him to discipline.

# Section 2.

Sick leave may be accumulated up to a maximum of one hundred (100) working days.

### Section 3.

Sick leave shall only be paid for the following reasons:

- a.) Bona fide illness of employee;
- b.) Bona fide illness of a family member of the employee where said family member, because of her/his illness, requires the employee's care or assistance;
- c.) Medical appointments with licensed physicians, when notice of appointment is given as far in advance as possible.
- d.) To address the psychological, physical, or legal effects of domestic violence.

# Section 4.

An employee having no accrued sick leave, who is absent due to illness, shall use accrued vacation leave and/or personal leave, or, if having none, shall request an unpaid leave of absence.

# Section 5.

Upon termination of employment with the Agency, except employees discharged for just cause, the employee shall be paid thirty-five percent (35%) of the difference between forty-five (45) days and one hundred (100)) days accumulated sick leave.

#### Section 6.

Employees shall call a supervisor to report their absence. If the employee is unable to provide this notice personally, they may if able, have the notice reported by another responsible person. If the absence is unforeseeable, the employee shall provide notice at least 30 minutes before the start of their shift. If this timeframe is not feasible due to the circumstances, notice shall be provided as soon as practicable.

If the absence is foreseeable, the employee shall provide as much notice as possible. Notice should be given to their supervisor by means of the completed Sick Time Usage Form.

# Section 7.

The Agency requires employees to complete the Sick Time Usage form for each sick leave occurrence.

# Section 8.

If an employee uses sick time for a period of more than twenty-four (24) consecutively scheduled hours, the Agency will require the employee to submit, within seven (7) days of taking the time off, written documentation from a healthcare provider that confirms the need to use available sick time. The foregoing sentence will not apply in cases of approved FMLA leave. If the employee is asked to submit written documentation but fails to do so within seven (7) days of the injury or illness, the Agency may recoup the sum of the sick time used from future pay as an overpayment.

The Agency may require written documentation from the employee's health care provider if the absence occurs within two (2) weeks of the employee's scheduled termination date or if the employee has had four (4) unplanned absences within the preceding three-month period.

# **ARTICLE 13 – PARENTAL LEAVE**

#### Section 1.

An employee, who has completed her/his probationary period, shall be eligible for an unpaid

parental leave of absence, requested thirty (30) days prior to leave unless an emergency arises which is beyond the control of the bargaining unit employee, in conjunction with the birth or adoption of a child. The leave shall commence on the date requested by the employee, and shall continue up to eight (8) weeks (up to twelve (12) weeks if the employee qualifies for such additional time pursuant to the Employer's Family and Medical Leave Act policy); provided, however, that such leave may be extended to an additional three (3) months by mutual consent between the employee and the Employer.

#### Section 2.

At the expiration of the parental leave, the employee will be restored to her/his previous position, or similar position with the same status, pay and length of service credit as of the date of her/his leave. If, during the period of the leave, employees in the same or similar position in the Agency have been laid off through no fault of their own, the employee will be extended the same rights and benefits, if any, extended to employees of equal length of service or similar position in the Agency.

# Section 3.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, parental leave granted under this Article shall not affect the employee's right to receive any contractual benefits for which s/he was eligible at the time of her/his leave.

# Section 4.

The Employer will require that available paid sick leave be substituted for the unpaid parental leave.

# Section 5.

When an employee is on a leave of absence Parental or FMLA, the Employer will continue to pay its share of health benefits for up to three months.

# ARTICLE 14 – OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE

#### Section 1.

Permanent employees are allowed three (3) personal days per year. Employees who work thirty-seven and one-half (37 1/2) hours per week will receive twenty-two and one-half (22 ½) hours per year. Full-time employees working less than thirty-seven and one-half (37 ½) hours per week, and part-time employees, will receive personal time pro-rated for the number of hours worked.

Employees hired after July 1, 1998 shall be entitled to one personal day at the commencement of each four month period (1/1, 5/1, 9/1). For employees hired during a four month period, personal time will be pro-rated for the remainder of that period.

Example: If an employee is hired on July 1, 1998, the employee is entitled to 0.5 days. On September 1, 1998 the employee is entitled to an additional personal day.

- Personal time can be used on a per-hour basis.
- Personal time does not carry over beyond the end of the calendar year.

• Personal time is not a terminal benefit and cannot be taken once an employee gives notice of resignation.

# Section 2.

Up to five (5) days paid leave may be granted by the Agency in the event of a death in the employee's immediate family. Immediate family includes mother, father, husband, wife, significant other (as a present common-law spouse), brother, sister, children, foster-parent or child, stepparent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law and daughter-in-law, grandparent, or grandchild.

Prior to the use of bereavement time, the approval of the immediate supervisor is required. Bereavement leave is not payable upon termination of employment.

Under extenuating circumstances the Employer may grant unpaid extended time for family bereavement. The granting of this extended time shall be at the sole discretion of the Employer and shall not be precedent setting.

#### Section 3.

When an employee is called for jury duty, the employee shall be continued at full pay, less the amount received for such services. The employee shall submit to the Employer a statement of monies received while serving on jury duty, and the notice for jury duty service, as soon as it is received.

An employee shall be granted leave without pay for court attendance when the employee is engaged in personal litigation.

#### Section 4.

Employees who are inducted into the U.S. Armed Forces or who are reserve members of the U.S. Armed Forces or state militia groups will be granted leaves of absence for military service, training or other obligations in compliance with state and federal laws.

# Section 5.

When the interest of the Agency can be furthered by employees' attendance at conferences and training, staff members may be authorized to attend. This authorization will be made by the employee's supervisor and Program Director. When attendance is authorized, the Agency provides conference costs up to one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) per full-time employee, per year, plus mileage if the current fiscal year's budget permits. This allowance may be increased above the \$150.00 per employee limit at the Employer's sole discretion. Conference and training allowance for the succeeding fiscal years may be increased provided the budget permits. Part-time employees will receive pro-rated benefits. Work hours will be adjusted accordingly within the pay period or ensuing pay period with the approval of the supervisor.

# Section 6.

The Employer may grant other unpaid leaves of absence when requested by an employee for personal reasons, educational advancement, or other reasons. Such leaves shall be subject to the operational needs of the Agency.

# Section 7.

If two (2) or more employees in the same office request leave at the same time, said leave shall be granted by seniority if a conflict arises.

# Section 8.

In order to meet the operational needs of the Agency, when any employee is on any type of leave, including family/medical, in excess of four (4) weeks, or when any open position that the Agency intends to fill remains unfilled for six (6) weeks, the Employer will attempt to increase the hours of part-time employees by seeking volunteers by job classification, to then offer any remaining available work to fulltime employees up to forty (40) hours per week at a straight time rate of pay, and if work is still available, to temporary employees of contract service personnel, provided sufficient funds are available. Temporary employees or contract service personnel are not members of the bargaining unit, and are not covered by the terms of this agreement.

# ARTICLE 15 – JOB OPENINGS / REASSIGNMENT

# Section 1.

Whenever there is a job opening in a bargaining unit position, that job shall be posted throughout the bargaining unit. All applicants within the bargaining unit shall have the opportunity to apply.

Selection shall be based on the ability to do the job. All final applicants being equal, seniority will apply.

### Section 2.

Reassignments shall normally be made by soliciting volunteers, absent special needs, as determined by the Agency.

#### Section 3.

The Employer will provide an employee who is to be reassigned with notice of reassignment, if possible.

#### Section 4.

Reassignment shall not be used as a disciplinary measure.

# **ARTICLE 16 – WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION**

# Section 1.

Whenever an employee is assigned to work in a higher classification, that employee shall be paid the salary of the higher classification from the first day s/he performed the work of the higher classification.

# Section 2.

When an employee is performing the duties of a person classified in a lower position on a temporary basis, s/he will be compensated at her/his regular rate.

# **ARTICLE 17 – SENIORITY**

# Section 1.

Agency-Wide seniority means the length of time an employee has been continuously employed with Elder Services in any position with Elder Services. Agency-Wide seniority shall be used in determining fringe benefit entitlement.

# Section 2.

Bargaining Unit seniority means length of continuous service in any position in the bargaining unit unbroken by any of the reasons specified in Section 3 of this Article. Effective upon the signing of this Agreement, current employees shall have their seniority based on the current seniority list. After the signing of this Agreement, newly hired employees in bargaining unit positions shall have their seniority determined in accordance with the above definitions of Agency-Wide and Bargaining Unit seniority.

#### Section 3.

An employee shall lose her/his seniority if s/he:

- a.) Quits, retires or resigns;
- b.) Is discharged or terminated for just cause;
- c.) Fails to report for work for a period of three (3) working days, without permission, and fails to notify her/his supervisor during said period of any valid reason for her/his absence. Such instances shall be considered an abandonment of position and may subject the employee to termination from employment;
- d.) Is laid off, and said lay-off is continuous for a period of one (1) year;
- e.) Fails to report back to work, following lay-off, within three (3) working days after being recalled by a written notice of recall by the Agency to the employee's last known address, unless such failure to report back is due to reasons beyond the employee's control.

# **ARTICLE 18 – LAY-OFF**

# Section 1.

For the purpose of lay-off, the following shall be the categories of employees:

Client Services Coordinator, Residential Services Coordinator

Within these categories, the least senior employee shall be laid off first, provided that if an employee has previously worked as either a Case Manager, Client Services Coordinator or Residential Service Coordinator s/he may exercise his/her classification seniority within that classification in the event of a lay-off, to bump the least senior employee within that classification.

#### Section 2.

Whenever possible, the Employer shall give written notice to the affected employee(s) at least ten (10) days prior to lay-off.

# Section 3.

Any laid-off employee will retain recall rights for twelve (12) months. When a vacancy occurs, the Employer shall send notice by registered mail to the affected employee, and to the Union. The affected employee will have three (3) working days to respond. The most senior employee on the recall shall be rehired if s/he responds within the recall period.

# **ARTICLE 19-A – GRIEVANCE**

# Section 1.

The purpose of this Article is to provide an orderly method for the settlement of a dispute between the parties over the interpretation, application, or claimed violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Such a dispute shall be defined as a grievance under this Agreement, and must be presented in writing within ten (10) working days after it arises; and be processed in accordance with the following steps, time limits, and conditions herein set forth. Any informal settlement of a grievance shall not constitute a precedent for the future interpretation or application of the Agreement.

# STEP 1:

The employee shall first take up her/his grievance with her/his immediate supervisor within ten (10) working days after the incident giving rise to the grievance occurs; and, if the aggrieved employee requests, a Union representative shall be given an opportunity to be present at a time to be fixed by the supervisor, who will then give her/his answer within five (5) working days. Should the supervisor fail to give an answer within five (5) working days, the Agency answer shall be deemed to be a denial of the grievance.

If the grievance is not settled, it shall, within five (5) working days thereafter, be set forth in writing, signed by the employee, and given to the supervisor who shall, within five (5) working days after receipt thereof, give her/his written answer to the grievance.

# STEP 2:

If the grievance is not settled at STEP 1, the aggrieved employee may, within five (5) working days after receipt of the supervisor's written answer, submit her/his grievance to the Program Director, who shall give her/his written answer, within five (5) working days after receipt of the STEP 2 grievance. Should the Program Director fail to give an answer within five (5) working days, the Agency answer shall be deemed a denial of the grievance.

# STEP 3:

If the grievance is not settled at STEP 2, the aggrieved employee may, within five (5) working days after receipt of the Program Director's written answer, submit her/his grievance to the Executive Director or her/his designee, who shall discuss it with the Union's representative at a time to be fixed by the Executive Director or her/his designated representative.

The Executive Director or her/his designated representative shall give

her/his written answer to the grievance within five (5) working days after the close of the discussion. Should the Executive Director or her/his designee fail to give an answer within five (5) working days, the Agency answer shall be deemed a denial of the grievance.

# Section 2.

The parties agree to follow each of the foregoing Steps in the processing of the grievance; and, if at any Step, the Agency's representative fails to give her/his written answer within the time limit therein set forth, it shall be deemed a denial by the Agency and the Union may appeal the grievance to the next Step at the expiration of such time limit.

# Section 3.

The settlement of a grievance in any case shall not be made retroactive for a period exceeding twenty (20) working days prior to the date the grievance was first presented in writing.

# Section 4.

If the Agency claims that the Union has violated any provision of this Agreement, it may present such claim to the Union in writing; and if the parties fail to settle it, the Agency may appeal it to arbitration, in accordance with the arbitration clause hereinafter set forth.

# Section 5.

Failure of the Union to comply with the procedure set forth above shall result in a waiver of the grievance. The parties may extend the above time limits in writing by mutual agreement.

### Section 6.

Both parties may agree, in writing, to an expedited grievance procedure beginning at STEP 3.

# **ARTICLE 19-B – ARBITRATION**

# Section 1.

In the event a grievance is not settled after the completion of the grievance procedure prescribed in Sections 1-6 of this Article, the grievance may be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the following procedure:

- a.) Within ten (10) working days after the Agency's answer, if either party desires the issue to be submitted to arbitration, it will notify the other party in writing. Both parties will then agree on a mutually acceptable arbitrator and date for such an arbitration. Failure to reach such agreement within ten (10) working days shall result in submission of the issue to the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service or the American Arbitration Association Service. The parties mutually agree that they shall request that all panels submitted for consideration consist of arbitrators residing or located in Connecticut, upper state New York, or Vermont with the specific exclusion of arbitrators from Massachusetts. The agreed upon time frame wherein arbitration must be filed is 10 working days after RECEIPT OF the Agency Director's answer to the grievance. (Receipt to be presumed within three (3) days of any mailed response)
- b.) The authority of the arbitrator shall be limited to the terms and provisions of this

Agreement and to the question or questions which are submitted. The arbitrator shall be bound by the provisions of this Agreement, and s/he shall not have the authority to establish or change wage rates or any other forms of compensation, or any terms or conditions of employment, or add to, subtract from, modify, or otherwise change any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement.

- c.) The expense of the arbitrator and the expenses directly related to the arbitration hearing (e.g., hearing room) shall be shared equally by the Agency and by the Union.
- d.) The decision by the arbitrator shall contain a statement of all the facts and evidence on which the arbitrator relies, and a full statement of the reasons in support of her/his conclusions and award.
- e.) The arbitrator shall not be empowered and shall have no jurisdiction to substitute her/his judgment or discretion for the judgment or discretion of the Agency in any case where the judgment or discretion is retained by or given to the Agency under an expressed provision of this Agreement.
- f.) The arbitrator shall mail her/his written decision simultaneously to the Agency, to the Union and to the aggrieved employee within thirty (30) days after the final submission. Subject to the provisions of Section 1-C of this Article, the decision by the arbitrator shall be final and conclusively binding upon the Agency, the Union and the aggrieved employee.
- g.) The request for arbitration shall state the known facts in support of the grievance, the alleged violation of this Agreement, and the remedy or relief sought by the party requesting arbitration.

### Section 2.

If any matter is referred to any state or federal regulatory or administrative agency or judicial body, then the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement shall be permanently stopped or closed.

#### Section 3.

The breach by the Union or by any of the employees of any of the provisions of Article 31 (No Strike Clause) shall, at the option of the Agency, forthwith terminate all of the obligations of the Agency under the provisions of Articles 19-A (Grievance Procedure) and 19-B (Arbitration), except as provided in Article 31, second paragraph.

# ARTICLE 20 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD

### Section 1.

A newly hired employee, during the first six (6) months of continuous service, shall be a probationary employee. During her/his probationary period, the Agency may discharge her/him, and terminate her/his employment in its sole judgment without recourse by said employee or the Union; and the Agency's action shall not be subject to the grievance or arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

If the Agency retains said employee after the completion of her/his probationary period, her/his seniority in the bargaining unit shall be computed from the first day of her/his employment.

Should an employee terminate her/his employment with the Agency, and subsequently be rehired by the Agency within two (2) years of her/his termination date, her/his probationary period upon rehire shall be limited to three (3) months of continuous employment.

# Section 2.

The Union will grant a request made by the Agency, in writing, before the expiration of an employee's probationary period, for an extension of said employee's probationary period, not exceeding forty (40) working days.

# <u>ARTICLE 21 – DISCIPLINE</u>

# Section 1.

The Employer shall not discharge or discipline an employee without just cause.

#### Section 2.

The Employer recognizes the concept of corrective discipline when appropriate.

# Section 3.

In the event that an employee is interviewed by the Employer on any subject that may lead to discipline or discharge, the employee may request to have the Steward present at any such discussion. In all cases involving written warning, suspension or discharge of an employee, the Employer must notify the employee in writing of her/his discipline and the reason, within a reasonable time. A copy of such written notice shall also be given to the Union.

### Section 4.

All disciplinary action shall be subject to the grievance procedure, except disciplinary action taken during an employee's probationary period.

# ARTICLE 22 – PERSONNEL RECORDS

#### Section 1.

Each employee, and/or the Union with the employee's written consent, shall have the right, upon request, to examine and receive copies of any and all material, including any and all evaluations, contained in any personnel records concerning such employee, within a reasonable time after said request.

# Section 2.

Whenever any substantive material, including evaluations, is inserted into the personnel file or record of an employee, said employee shall be promptly notified, and given a copy of such material.

#### Section 3.

The Union or any employee may challenge the accuracy of any material and/or personnel evaluation in her/his personnel file or record by filing a written statement or the challenge in the personnel file.

# <u>ARTICLE 23 – HEALTH, SAFETY, WORKING CONDITIONS</u>

#### Section 1.

The Employer agrees to provide a safe working environment including personal safety training.

# Section 2.

When the Employer plans any changes which will affect the Agency offices, the Employer will notify the employees whose work locations will be affected, and the Union; and agrees to receive input.

# Section 3.

No employee shall be required to transport clients.

# Section 4.

In the event an employee's personal property or clothing is destroyed, damaged or stolen in the performance of her/his regular duties, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for repairs or replacement of the article(s), provided the loss falls within the Agency's insurance coverage. The Employer shall take prompt and timely action in the disposition of employee claims for reimbursement.

# **ARTICLE 24 – JOB DESCRIPTION**

# Section 1.

The Employer will provide to each employee a copy of her/his job description. A job description shall be an accurate summary of duties, responsibilities and requirements of the job, and shall include any special conditions of employment.

#### Section 2.

When E.O.E.A. or Elder Services of Berkshire County, Inc. requires major or substantial changes in current job responsibilities, the Agency will meet and discuss these changes with the Union.

# Section 3.

If the Employer or the Executive Office of Elder Affairs mandates additional educational, licensing or certification requirement, the employee will be adequately trained on Agency time to meet these requirements. If s/he cannot be adequately trained on Agency time, s/he will be reimbursed for all expenses in off-work training.

# Section 4.

A complete set of job descriptions shall be on file with the Employer, and shall be available for examination and copying by any bargaining unit employee and/or Union representative.

# ARTICLE 25 – WORKLOADS

# Section 1.

The parties recognize the workload limits established for Case managers by the Executive Office of Elder Affairs, and the control E.O.E.A. has on staffing patterns. The parties agree to continue

to work toward modifications of current policies for workloads, within E.O.E.A. and Agency guidelines. Any amendment to E.O.E.A. guidelines will be incorporated by reference herein. The agency will endeavor to distribute workloads equitably.

Based on the complexities involved with workload issues a work group comprised of case management and supervisory staff will be convened to discuss work load processes.

# Section 2. – Vacancies & Compensation:

- a.) The Agency agrees to pay \$45.00 per week to each full time Client Services Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator impacted by the vacancy, as determined by the Agency, for each full-time Client Services Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator, as determined by the Agency, that the Agency declares as vacant and that it intends to fill. Compensation will begin on the day that a full-time employee or full-time employees is or are assigned additional cases due to the unfilled, full-time position that the Agency has declared as vacant and that it intends to fill. Such compensation will cease after the newly hired staff person has successfully completed their probationary period.
- b.) The Agency agrees to pay \$45.00 per week to each full-time Client Services Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator impacted by the vacancy, as determined by the Agency, for each full-time Client Services Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator, as determined by the Agency, that the Agency declares as vacant on a temporary basis due to an approved leave of absence excluding vacations. Compensation will begin on the later date of; the day that a full-time employee or full-time employees is or are assigned additional cases due to the temporarily unfilled full-time position or week number three (3) of such approved leave and will be paid up to week twelve (12) of the leave (a total of ten (10) weeks).
- c.) The Agency agrees to pay \$22.50 per week to each full-time Client Services
  Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator impacted by the vacancy, as
  determined by the Agency, for each part-time Client Services Coordinator and/or
  Residential Services Coordinator, as determined by the Agency, that the Agency
  declares as vacant and that intends to fill. Compensation will begin on the day that a
  full-time employee or full-time employees is or are assigned additional cases due to the
  unfilled, part-time position that the Agency has declared as vacant and that it intends to
  fill. Such compensation will cease after the newly hired staff person has successfully
  completed their probationary period.
- d.) The Agency agrees to pay \$22.50 per week to each full-time Client Services Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator impacted by the vacancy, as determined by the Agency, for each part-time Client Services Coordinator and/or Residential Services Coordinator, as determined by the Agency, that the Agency declares as vacant on a temporary basis due to an approved leave of absence excluding vacations. Compensation will begin on the later date of; the day that a full-time employee or full-time employees is or are assigned additional cases due to the temporarily unfilled part-time position or week number three (3) of such approved leave and will be paid up to week twelve (12) of the leave (a total of ten (10) weeks).

# ARTICLE 26 – CASE MANAGER MEETINGS

Case managers may have a one (1) hour meeting twice a year on Agency time during normal office hours. These meetings shall take place either at the beginning or end of the work day. Management shall be notified two (2) weeks in advance so that they can make any appropriate arrangements and to make sure there are no scheduling conflicts. Management may attend these meetings if they so desire. There is no additional pay for travel or travel time to attend these meetings.

# **ARTICLE 27 – LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE**

Suggested participation to include: three management representatives and three union representatives (with one being the steward) as the working committee. The committee would be designed to address the ongoing changes/impact that growing/mandated programs have on the unit. These would include, but not limited to:

An agreed upon standard caseload of 85

# ARTICLE 28 – SEPARABILITY

Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be in violation of any federal or state law, or a final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement. The illegal provisions shall be stricken, and the parties shall thereafter act in accordance with that federal and state law.

# ARTICLE 29 – VOIDABLE WAIVER

If either party fails to comply with any provision of the contract, neither party shall waive the right to enforce the provision in the future.

# **ARTICLE 30 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

The management of the Agency and the direction of the working force, including: 1) the right to plan, direct and control operations; 2) to schedule and assign work to employees; 3) to determine the methods of operation; 4) to determine the services to be provided; 5) to choose the location of its offices and the continuance of its operating departments; 6) to establish standards and to maintain the efficiency of employees; 7) to establish, and require employees to observe, Agency rules and regulations; 8) to hire, lay-off or relieve employees from duties; and 9) to maintain order and to suspend, demote, discipline and discharge employees for just cause, are the recognized reserved rights of the Agency.

The foregoing enumeration of management rights shall not be deemed to exclude other rights of management not specifically set forth; the Agency, therefore, retaining all rights not otherwise specifically restricted by this Agreement.

The exercise by the Agency of any of the foregoing rights shall not alter any of the specific provisions of this Agreement; nor shall they be used to discriminate against any member of the

Union or bargaining unit.

# ARTICLE 31 – NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT

During the term of this Agreement the parties hereto agree that there shall be no strikes of any kind whatsoever, including, but not limited to, sympathy strikes, work stoppages, slow-downs, or interference or interruption with the operations of the Agency by any employees or the Union; and there shall be no lockouts by the Employer.

Employees who violate this provision shall be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge; disciplinary action under this Article shall be subject to arbitration, as provided for under Article 19-B of this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 32 – EXPRESSED WAIVER**

The parties agree that this Agreement constitutes the entire contract between them governing the rates of pay and working conditions of the employees in the bargaining unit during the term thereof; and settles all demands and issues on all matters subject to collective bargaining, including any demands made by the Union during negotiations except economic improvements under Article 8 of the contract for the bargaining unit.

Accordingly, the Union expressly waives the right during the term of this Agreement to demand, discuss or negotiate upon any subject matter, whether or not such subject matter is specifically contained in this Agreement or whether such subject matter has or has not been raised or discussed by either party during negotiations leading up to the execution of this Agreement.

Provided, however, in the event that E.O.E.A. mandates a change in a term or condition of employment, the Agency shall notify the Union and give the Union an opportunity to bargain over the changes, including economic improvements (under Article 8-Salaries of the contract).

# **ARTICLE 33 – STATEMENT IN PRINCIPLE**

The value of a positive and supportive work environment is recognized and acknowledged by both parties. Given this shared interest in creating a workplace where honest and constructive feedback regarding performance can be shared openly and without hesitation as part of a mutually beneficial process of employee development, the parties agree that this development can and should begin/occur even prior to any formal warning (verbal and/or written) and remains a valid part of the development record of any given employee, as long as, the communication is confirmed and clarified between the parties via an accepted method such as email.

# **ARTICLE 34 – DURATION AND RENEWAL**

The term of this agreement shall begin November 1, 2022, and be binding upon the parties hereto; and shall remain in full force and effect until terminated on or after October 31, 2025, by written notice from the Union.

Ninety (90) days before the expiration date of this Agreement, to wit: midnight August 1, 2025,

either party may give written notice to the other that it desires to terminate or modify this Agreement; and, upon receipt of such written notice, the parties agree to meet and confer for the purpose of negotiating a new Agreement.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed the Agreement.

LOCAL 509, SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, CLC:
By:
Dated: 10/21/25
ELDER SERVICES OF BERKSHIRE COUNTY, INC.:
By: Ct. Mo Faughl
Its: Executive Director
Dated: